STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Richland County

DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

Opinion No. 2015-UP-574 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed December 30, 2015)

2012-GS-10-40032;40033  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED

MAY 11 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BRETT D. PARKER,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-000524  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS  
\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1.

Did the Court of Appeals err in holding the trial judge's refusal to charge the jury concerning circumstantial evidence pursuant to State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 747 S.E.2d 444 (2013) was harmless?

2.

Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's failure to restrict the state's main expert from offering an opinion outside of his qualifications and expertise?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **Procedural History**

A Richland County grand jury indicted petitioner for two counts of murder on August 15, 2012. R. 1-5. The state, represented by K. Luck Campbell, Nicole M. Simpson, and Meghan L. Walker, called the case for trial before the Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin and a jury on May 6, 2013. R. 8. David A. Fedor and J. Marcus Whitlark represented petitioner. R. 8. On May 28, 2013, the jury returned its verdicts, finding petitioner guilty as charged. R. 3178, ll. 2-13. Judge Benjamin sentenced petitioner to two life sentences to be served consecutively. R. 5-6; R. 3190, l. 25 – R. 3191, l. 9.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. His appeal was perfected by John S. Nichols, John D. Delgado, and Earnest L. Dessausure. On December 30, 2015, the Court of Appeals affirmed petitioner's convictions and sentences in an unpublished opinion. App. 1-3; State v. Parker, 2015-UP-574 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Dec. 30, 2015). On January 14, 2016, petitioner filed a petition for rehearing. App. 4-12. On February 19, 2016, the Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing. App. 13.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

### **Relevant facts**

Petitioner testified in his own defense. Petitioner and his wife, Tammy Parker ("Tammy"), got married in 1996. R. 2747, ll. 17 – 19. They had two children. R. 2748, ll. 7 – 21. Petitioner worked selling medical equipment. R. 2745, ll. 4 – 16. He was also a bookie. R. 2745, ll. 17 – 19. Bryan Capnerhurst ("Capnerhurst") first met petitioner through petitioner's father, who was also a bookie. R. 2750, ll. 14 – 20. In 2006, Capnerhurst began working for petitioner in the gambling business. R. 2750, l. 21 – 2751, l. 1.

On the day of the shooting, petitioner was in the bathroom when he heard Capnerhurst come in his house. R. 2757, ll. 2 – 7. Capnerhurst “hollered” petitioner’s name. R. 2757, ll. 17 – 21. Petitioner responded that he was in the bathroom, but Tammy was upstairs and he could “go on up.” R. 2757, ll. 17 – 21.

Petitioner was still in the bathroom when he heard gunshots. R. 2757, l. 22 – 2758, l. 2. Petitioner ran up the steps. R. 2758, ll. 3 – 12. As he got to the landing, petitioner saw Capnerhurst pointing a gun at him. R. 2758, ll. 3 – 12. Capnerhurst told petitioner to “go to the fucking safe.” R. 2758, ll. 3 – 12. Petitioner asked Capnerhurst what he was doing. R. 2758, ll. 13 – 15. When he walked upstairs, he “could see Tammy’s feet sticking out of the bathroom; and then I knew something was wrong bad, that he had probably shot her.” R. 2758, ll. 16 – 19.

Capnerhurst forced petitioner into his storage room where he kept his safe. R. 2759, ll. 1 – 6. Capnerhurst did not know that on top of the safe, under a blanket, petitioner kept a gun. R. 2759, ll. 7 – 14. Capnerhurst held a pistol on petitioner. R. 2767, l. 25 – 2768, l. 3. Petitioner “grabbed” the gun hidden under the blanket “and immediately turned and just kept pulling the trigger.” R. 2768, ll. 11 – 13. After shooting Capnerhurst, petitioner “jumped over him and ran to check on Tammy.” R. 2769, ll. 7 – 10. Tammy was dead. R. 2769, ll. 11 – 24. Petitioner called 911. R. 2773, l. 15 – 2819, l. 6.

According to the state’s theory, petitioner killed Tammy for insurance proceeds and other assets. R. 3000, l. 17 – R. 3001, l. 1. He also attempted to frame Capnerhurst for her death. R. 3001, ll. 3-5; R. 3082, ll. 22-25. However, the state’s case against petitioner was entirely circumstantial – as evidenced by the solicitor’s closing argument requesting the jurors not ignore the evidence of petitioner’s “gambling, the debts, the adultery, the vengeance about Tammy having an affair.” R. 3081, ll. 14-16.

The police who arrived first on the scene found a gun in Capnerhurst's hand and an ammunition box in his bag. R. 309, ll. 4-5; R. 342, ll. 17-22; R. 592, ll. 12-24; R. 596, ll. 4-13; R. 947, ll. 16-18; R. 1143, ll. 2-7; R. 1152, ll. 9-10. Although the police found Capnerhurst's DNA on the gun and bag and gunshot residue on his hands, the state argued petitioner planted the gun and the ammunition box. R. 996, ll. 13-25; R. 1002, ll. 5-22; R. 1076, l. 22 - R. 1077, l. 3; R. 3082, ll. 17-18. To support these two points, the state's pathologist testified that Capnerhurst would have been unable to hold the gun in light of the injuries he sustained when petitioner shot him and a latent print examiner claimed petitioner's fingerprints were on the ammunition box. R. 687, l. 21 - 692, l. 25; R. 760, ll. 17-22; R. 1036, l. 3 - 1037, l. 2; R. 1538, l. 15 - 1551, l. 22; R. 3012, ll. 1-18; R. 3016, ll. 12-14; R. 3128, ll. 1-11.

Security video footage from petitioner's home showed the window blinds opening shortly before Capnerhurst's arrival. R. 1150, ll. 21-24; R. 1155, ll. 3-24; R. 1167, ll. 16-18; R. 1187, ll. 19-25; R. 3012, ll. 20-23; R. 3091, ll. 24-25. When the police watched the video, the police returned to petitioner's home on May 23, 2012, and took lifts from the blinds to test for the presence of gunshot residue. R. 709, l. 25 - 710, l. 3; R. 722, ll. 16-25; R. 1190, ll. 2-25; R. 3119, ll. 1-7. Of the six areas searched, three areas revealed the presence of one round lead particle. R. 1079, l. 1 - 1081, l. 19; R. 3119, ll. 11-12; R. 3092, ll. 8-11. As a result, the tests were "inconclusive" according to the state's expert because gunshot residue requires the presence of spherical, round particles that contain lead, barium and antimony. R. 1061, ll. 18-19; R. 1062, ll. 4-10; R. 1080, ll. 7-8; R. 1081, ll. 3-5; R. 1081, l. 10.

The state also presented multiple witnesses who testified regarding petitioner's debt. Petitioner had approximately \$176,000 in gambling debt associated with two accounts. R. 3013, ll. 8-13; R. 3082, l. 11; R. 3112, ll. 17-21; R. 3133, ll. 13-21. Additionally, a witness claimed

petitioner asked for a loan of \$5000 the day before the deaths. R. 3134, ll. 12-18. Both petitioner and Tammy were having affairs. To support the argument that petitioner was unhappy in his marriage, the state presented several women who testified regarding sexual relationships with petitioner while he was still married to Tammy, including one who testified to a sexual encounter in petitioner's son's bedroom shortly before Tammy's death. R. 948, ll. 2-16; R. 958, l. 2 – R. 959, l. 24; R. 1146, ll. 22-23; R. 1192, ll. 14-23; R. 3129, ll. 11-24. Tammy had an affair with one of her clients, Ben Staples. R. 2365, l. 22 – 2366, l. 4. Petitioner did not know Tammy had an affair until Sheriff Leon Lott told him about it. R. 2749, ll. 2-4. R. 2327, ll. 1-2.

Following Tammy's death, petitioner stood to receive almost \$1 million from the life insurance proceeds and the retirement account. R. 3113, ll. 7-10. Although petitioner disclaimed the funds and a trust was created on behalf of the children, the state claimed the disclaimer was at the suggestion of the certified public accountant, and not a selfless act by petitioner. R. 3134, ll. 19-23; R. 3135, ll. 4-9.

The state's case required the jurors to believe that petitioner killed his wife to end an unhappy marriage and inherit funds to allow him to pay off his debts. The state's case also required the jurors to believe petitioner attempted to frame his friend and colleague, Capnerhurst, for her murder. The state's case hinged upon the jurors believing the state's circumstantial evidence and the testimony of the pathologist regarding Capnerhurst's ability to hold a gun after death.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The Court of Appeals erred in holding the trial judge's refusal to charge the jury concerning circumstantial evidence pursuant to *State v. Logan*, 405 S.C. 83, 747 S.E.2d 444 (2013) was harmless.

### **How the Issue Arose at Trial**

#### *Request to charge*

During the course of the trial, petitioner submitted written requests to charge. R. 7. Recognizing that the evidence against petitioner would be entirely circumstantial and that the jury would require specific instructions regarding how to examine circumstantial evidence, petitioner prepared a proposed jury instruction concerning circumstantial evidence to guide the jury in its analysis. Petitioner requested the trial judge charge the jury as follows:

This criminal prosecution is based solely upon circumstantial evidence.

Therefore, the State must prove every circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt, that all circumstances must be consistent with each other, that the circumstances must point conclusively to the defendant's guilt to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis, and that a strong probability of guilt is not sufficient if the circumstances may be accounted for upon any reasonable hypothesis that does not include the defendant's guilt.

R. 7. In support of this charge, petitioner cited *State v. Edwards*, 298 S.C. 272, 379 S.E.2d 888 (1989), *Battle v. State*, 382 S.C. 197, 675 S.E.2d 736 (2009), and *State v. Hernandez*, 382 S.C. 620, 677 S.E.2d 603 (2009). R. 7.

During the charge conference, petitioner, referencing his written requests to charge, requested the judge charge the jury concerning circumstantial evidence pursuant to *Edwards*, supra.

R. 2964, ll. 5-6. The prosecutor countered, "Grippon,<sup>1</sup> I believe, is the controlling law." R. 2964, ll. 10-11. Petitioner recognized Edwards "ha[d] been tinkered with," but requested the judge charge the jury with the language of Edwards because it was a "fair," "accurate," and "correct statement of the law as it should be or [is] going to be." R. 2987, ll. 13-20. The solicitor relied on State v. Cherry<sup>2</sup> to argue the Edwards language had been overruled. R. 2988, l. 6 – 2989, l. 2. Petitioner made clear he was "requesting that the law that has been the law of this state since 1850, . . . , to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesi[s]." R. 2989, ll. 6-14. Referring to the issue pending appeal in State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 747 S.E.2d 444 (2013), petitioner explained he did not "know what is going to happen," but "had a gut feeling about this one" about "what is going to happen in the future" concerning the circumstantial evidence charge. R. 2990, ll. 9-11; R. 2990, ll. 13-14.<sup>3</sup>

In denying petitioner's request, the judge stated Cherry, supra, was "the new law" and she had "to go with the changes." R. 2988, ll. 1-3; R. 2989, ll. 17-18. Judge Benjamin explained her discretion in charging the jury was constrained in light of the directness of the opinion in Cherry, supra. R. 3034, ll. 21-22. She noted how the law rarely provided for something "directly on point," but she found Cherry to be "on point" concerning this issue. R. 2989, l. 25 – 2990, l. 4; R. 2990, ll. 21-22.

---

<sup>1</sup> State v. Grippon, 327 S.C. 79, 489 S.E.2d 462 (1997).

<sup>2</sup> State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475 (2004).

<sup>3</sup> After the judge instructed the jury, petitioner renewed his request to charge the jury concerning circumstantial evidence based on State v. Edwards, 298 S.C. 272, 379 S.E.2d 888 (1989). R. 3171, ll. 21-22. In his motion for new trial, petitioner again renewed his request for the circumstantial evidence charge pursuant to Edwards, supra. R. 3183, ll. 9-14. The judge denied the request for new trial, stating State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475 (2004) overturned Edwards, and "the language that was given in the jury charge [was] an accurate statement of the law today." R. 3183, l. 19 – 3184, l. 5.

### *Closing arguments*

Knowing petitioner had requested a specific and clarifying instruction concerning circumstantial evidence and the judge's refusal so instruct, the state argued to the jury concerning the two types of evidence. After reciting the definitions of direct evidence and circumstantial evidence, the solicitor told the jurors they heard "direct evidence" "from a number of witnesses." R. 3017, ll. 8-23. According to the solicitor, these were "lay witnesses" who testified about what they "saw, observed, or heard." R. 3017, ll. 22-25.

Turning to circumstantial evidence, the solicitor wanted "to make very clear" that "the law makes absolutely no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence, nor is a greater degree of certainty required of circumstantial evidence than of direct evidence." R. 3018, ll. 16-21. The solicitor told the jurors that in her opinion, the state presented "a substantial amount" of circumstantial evidence to them. R. 3018, ll.1-2. She then explained that if she looked out her window before going to bed and there was no snow, but when she woke up there was snow, she could reasonably infer that it snowed during the night. R. 3063, ll. 2-11. She told the jurors, "Well, that is kind of how circumstantial evidence works in this case." R. 3018, ll. 12-13.

Petitioner attempted to respond to the solicitor's misleading and inaccurate statements regarding circumstantial evidence during his closing argument; however, the judge refused to permit petitioner to argue to the jury the correct analytical framework for circumstantial evidence. Specially, petitioner argued that the "[p]rosecutor tried to show you that circumstantial evidence is just as good as direct evidence." R. 3073, ll. 9-10. He then told the jury that with "circumstantial evidence you have got to connect all the dots. And there must not be another reasonable

hypothesis.” R. 3073, ll. 11-14. At this point, the state objected, and the judge sustained the objection. R. 3073, ll. 15-19.

*Jury instructions*

Denying petitioner’s request to charge the jury with specific instructions detailing how to analyze circumstantial evidence, the judge charged the jury as follows concerning direct and circumstantial evidence:

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, there are two types of evidence which are generally presented during a trial: Direct and circumstantial evidence.

Direct evidence is the testimony of a person who claims to have actual knowledge of a fact, such as an eyewitness. It is evidence which immediately establishes the main fact to be proved.

Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact. It is evidence which immediately establishes collateral facts from which the main fact may be inferred. Circumstantial evidence is based on inference and not on personal knowledge or observation.

**The law makes absolutely no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence, nor is a greater degree of certainty required of circumstantial evidence than of direct evidence. You should weigh all of evidence in the case.**

After weighing all of the evidence, if you are not convinced of the guilt of the Defendant beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find the Defendant not guilty.

R. 3153, l. 10 – 3154, l. 9 (emphasis added).

**Discussion**

In November of 2012, Clarence Logan filed a brief in the South Carolina Court of Appeals challenging his convictions for robbery and attempted sexual misconduct. The issue on appeal concerned the propriety of the circumstantial evidence jury instruction. A month later, this Court certified Logan’s case for review pursuant to Rule 204(b), SCACR. On April 2, 2013, this Court

heard argument in the case, including Logan's request to argue against precedent concerning the circumstantial evidence charge. State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 747 S.E.2d 444 (2013).

One month later, the state called petitioner to trial on May 6, 2013. R. 8. The evidence against petitioner was entirely circumstantial. His trial lasted over three weeks, concluding on May 28, 2013, when the jury found petitioner guilty of two counts of murder. R. 5-6; R. 3178, ll. 2-13. The judge sentenced petitioner to two life sentences to be served consecutively. R. 5-6; R. 3190, l. 25 – 3191, l. 9.

On August 14, 2013, while petitioner's case was pending on appeal, this Court issued its decision in Logan, supra. This Court explained that although a trial court may instruct a jury concerning circumstantial evidence as defined in Grippon, supra, and Cherry, supra, the trial court "should provide" an instruction guiding the jury on how to analyze circumstantial evidence, in addition to a proper reasonable doubt instruction, "when so requested by a defendant." State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 99, 747 S.E.2d 444, 452 (2013). The approved charge provides jurors with much-needed guidance in analyzing circumstantial evidence:

There are two types of evidence which are generally presented during a trial – direct evidence and circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence directly proves the existence of a fact and does not require deduction. Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact.

Crimes may be proven by circumstantial evidence. The law makes no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence, however, to the extent the State relies on circumstantial evidence, all of the circumstances must be consistent with each other, and when taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt. If these circumstances merely portray the defendant's behavior as suspicious, the proof has failed.

The State has the burden of proving the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. This burden rests with the State regardless of whether the State relies on direct evidence, circumstantial evidence, or some combination of the two.

Id. at 99, 747 S.E.2d at 452.

According to this Court, “[t]rial courts should not be constrained from providing a jury charge encompassing the determinations critical for analyzing circumstantial evidence as it appears in some cases.” Id. “Additionally defendants should not be restricted from requesting a jury charge that reflects the requisite connection of collateral facts necessary for a conviction.” Id. Thus, “at times, a separate framework is necessary to the jury’s analysis of circumstantial evidence.” Id. at 100, 747 S.E.2d at 453. The judge’s denial of petitioner’s request rested *solely* on her reliance upon Cherry, supra, which is precisely what this Court warned against in State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 99, 747 S.E.2d 444, 452 (2013)(explaining “[t]rial courts should not be constrained from providing a jury charge encompassing the determinations critical for analyzing circumstantial evidence as it appears in some cases” and “defendants should not be restricted from requesting a jury charge that reflects the requisite connection of collateral facts necessary for a conviction”). The judge made clear she believed her discretion concerning the charge was limited by this Court’s previous holdings. R. 3183, l. 19 – 3184, l. 5.

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that Logan applied retroactively to petitioner’s case. See App. 2; State v. Parker, 2015-UP-574 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Dec. 30, 2015). Petitioner benefits from the Logan ruling because his case was pending on direct review and the issue was preserved for review. See State v. Jenkins, 408 S.C. 560, 571, 759 S.E.2d 759, 765 (Ct. App. 2014)(holding that Logan applies to cases pending on appeal at the time the Logan opinion was published); see also State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 612-613, 685 S.E.2d 802, 810 (2009)(citing Griffith v. Kentucky, 479 U.S. 314, 328 (1987)(“hold[ing] that a new rule for the conduct of criminal prosecutions is to be applied retroactively to all cases ... pending on direct review or not yet final), Harris v. State, 543 S.E.2d 716, 717-718 (2001)(reversing a murder conviction and

overruling precedent that had approved inference of intent to kill from use of a deadly weapon and applying the new rule “to all cases in the ‘pipeline’ – i.e., cases which are pending in direct review or not yet final”).

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