RECEIVED

JUN -3 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

**Appeal from Richland County
Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-000524
Opinion No. 2015-UP-574 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Dec. 30,2015)**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

BRETT D. PARKER,

Petitioner.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

**ALAN WILSON
Attorney General**

**JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General**

**P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305**

**DANIEL EDWARD JOHNSON

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

ARGUMENTS

I. The Court of Appeals properly found that the trial judge did not err in refusing Parker’s request to charge the disapproved *Edwards* “reasonable hypothesis” language in the circumstantial evidence charge because this Court has found that the requested language is confusing and has directed that it should not be used. Instead, the trial judge properly gave the then-current and correct instruction approved of in *State v. Grippon*, 327 S.C. 79, 489 S.E.2d 462 (1997), which this Court had found is the sole appropriate charge in *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475 (2004). At worst, any error in not giving the requested charge was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Contrary to Parker’s argument before this Court, he did not request a jury instruction pursuant to this Court’s opinion in *State v. Logan*, 405 S.C. 83, 747 S.E.2d 444 (2013), or

misread how the Court would decide *Logan*. Instead, he expressly requested a jury instruction in accordance with *State v. Edwards*, 298 S.C. 272, 275-76, 379 S.E.2d 888, 889 (1989), including the outdated and disapproved “reasonable hypothesis” language: “[W]e are going to need a *State v. Edwards* [charge], we will be making a request. ... I think we are entitled to it.” **R. 2964**.

In the charge conference on the following day, Parker’s Request-to-Charge Number 1 contained the “reasonable hypothesis” language from *Edwards*. Counsel acknowledged that *Edwards* had been “tinkered with, no doubt about that, but we would request it.” Counsel stated that this instruction “is fair and it is accurate. And ... it is a correct statement of the law as it should be or going to be.” **R. 7; 2987**. *See also* **R. 2989**. The State opposed the instruction in light of *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 601-02, 606 S.E.2d 475, 482 (2004), which expressly stated that the “reasonable hypothesis” language in *Edwards* should not be used and that the correct instruction was that set forth in *State v. Grippon*, 327 S.C. 79, 489 S.E.2d 462 (1997). **R. 2988-89**. The trial judge rejected Parker’s request because she was bound by the current law. Counsel then noted his “procedural exception.” **R. 2989–90**. Ultimately, the trial judge gave a jury instruction consistent with *Cherry* and *Grippon*. **R. 3153-54**.¹⁷

Initially, Respondent submits that much of what Parker argues before this Court is not properly before it on appeal because he failed to present the same arguments to the trial judge.¹⁸

¹⁷ Parker took exception to the failure to charge *Edwards*. **R. 3171**. He renewed his exception in a post-trial motion. The trial judge denied his motion because she found that *Cherry* had overruled *Edwards* and that her charge had accurately stated the law. **R. 3183-84**.

¹⁸ For instance, he did not argue in the trial court or in the Court of Appeals that the State’s case required jurors to accept the State’s theory of motive, which is not an element of murder; that the State’s “misleading and inaccurate statements regarding circumstantial evidence” in closing argument required a different circumstantial evidence charge from the one given; he did not rely upon Justice Toal’s concurring opinion in *Grippon*, 327 S.C. at 84, 489 S.E.2d at 464 (Toal, CJ, concurring), in which she found that “reasonable hypothesis” language did not shift the burden of proof; and he admittedly did not object to other portions of the jury instructions which he now relies upon in attacking the harmless error analysis below. As a result, these arguments are not preserved for appellate review. If this Court addresses these arguments on appeal, Parker would effectively be allowed to end-run the contemporaneous objection requirement. *Contra State v. Mayfield*, 235 S.C. 11, 23-24, 109 S.E.2d 716, 724 (1959)

State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5-6, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (a party cannot argue one ground at trial and then an alternative ground on appeal); *State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct.App. 1996); *Linda Mc Co. v. Shore*, 390 S.C. 543, 558, 703 S.E.2d 499, 506-07 (2010) (“Because this issue was not presented to the court of appeals, it is not preserved for our review”). Further, Petitioner’s claim of error is not meritorious.

In reviewing jury charges for error, an appellate court considers the charge as a whole, in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial. “A jury charge is correct if when read as a whole, the charge adequately covers the law.” *State v. Drayton*, 411 S.C. 533, 544, 769 S.E.2d 254, 260 (Ct.App. 2015), *aff’d in part and vac’d in part on other grds.*, 415 S.C. 43, 780 S.E.2d 902 (2015). A trial judge generally “is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina.” *State v. Jenkins*, 408 S.C. 560, 569, 759 S.E.2d 759, 764 (Ct.App. 2014), *cert. denied*, Feb 4, 2015. Applying this standard, certiorari is not warranted. Indeed, the Court of Appeals rejected identical arguments to Parker’s in both *Drayton* and *Jenkins*, and this Court denied certiorari to review the issue in both cases.

In *Cherry*, this Court found that the traditional circumstantial evidence charge served to confuse juries by leading them to erroneously believe that the standard for measuring circumstantial evidence is different than that for measuring direct evidence. As a result, the Court held “that the recommended language in *Grippon* is the sole and exclusive charge to be given in circumstantial evidence cases in this state, along with a proper reasonable doubt instruction.” *Cherry* also expressly eliminated the confusing “reasonable hypothesis” language found in the *Edwards* instruction, and which Parker **adamantly** requested. *Cherry*, 361 S.C. at 601, 606

(“One may not take his chance of a favorable verdict and, after an unfavorable one, raise an objection that should have been made before the verdict was rendered”).

S.E.2d at 482. This Court again approved that charge *Logan, supra*.¹⁹ Also, relevant precedent at the time of trial dictated that only the *Grippon* charge be used. *Cherry, supra*. That charge does not include the “reasonable hypothesis language” requested here. (See **R. p. 7**).²⁰ This Court in *Logan* did state that trial courts may not exclusively rely on [the *Grippon*] charge over a defendant's objection,” *Logan*, 405 S.C. at 100, 747 S.E.2d at 453, but the Court reaffirmed both the correctness of the *Grippon* charge and the impropriety of the “reasonable hypothesis” language in rejecting the claim that *Cherry* had been implicitly overruled. *Id.* at 94, 747 S.E.2d at 449. Thus, the requested language remains disapproved. *Id.* at 98, 747 S.E.2d at 451-52. *See also Jenkins*, 408 S.C. at 572-73, 759 S.E.2d at 766; *Drayton*, 411 S.C. at 544, 769 S.E.2d at 260. Accordingly, Parker’s requested charge was properly rejected because it did not and still does not accurately state the applicable law. *Id.*

Finally, *Logan* recognized that “erroneous jury instructions are subject to a harmless error analysis,” and it found that any error in the failure to give the requested circumstantial evidence instruction was harmless because “[t]he trial court's jury instruction, as a whole, properly conveyed the applicable law” in light of the instruction on “reasonable doubt burden of proof.” 405 S.C. at 94, 747 S.E.2d at 449. In both *Jenkins* and *Drayton*, the Court Appeals likewise concluded that the failure to give an instruction such as that requested by Parker “was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the trial court's instruction, as a whole, properly conveyed

¹⁹ Indeed, the Court in *Logan* addressed the argument that Parker raised in the Court of Appeals but has now abandoned, *i.e.* that their recent cases referencing the *Edwards* charge signaled disapproval of the *Grippon* charge. This Court found that its recent cases referencing the *Edwards* language did not address the jury instructions given. Rather, those cases – including *Hernandez*, and *State v. Odems*, 395 S.C. 582, 720 S.E.2d 48 (2011) - the cases upon which Parker relies - as well as *State v. Bostick*, 392 S.C. 134, 708 S.E.2d 774 (2011), had only made reference to the *Edwards* language in the context of the trial judge’s ruling on a directed verdict motion.

²⁰ Consistent with *Holland v. United States*, 348 U.S. 121 (1954), the Court in *Cherry* found that the “reasonable hypothesis” instruction merely served to confuse juries. *Cherry*, 361 S.C. at 601-602, 606 S.E.2d at 482. *See also Grippon*, 327 S.C. at 85, 489 S.E.2d at 465 (Toal, J., concurring); *State v. Manning*, 305 S.C. 413, 417, 409 S.E.2d 372, 374 (1991).

the applicable law,” in light of the trial judge’s correct “reasonable doubt” charge. *Jenkins*, 408 S.C. at 573-74, 759 S.E.2d at 766; *see also Drayton*, 411 S.C. at 546, 769 S.E.2d at 261. Here, the trial judge gave the same reasonable doubt instruction (R. 3153-54) as the trial court in *Logan*. As a result, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.²¹

II. The trial judge did not abuse her discretion by allowing Dr. Bradley Marcus, the forensic pathologist who performed the autopsy on Bryan Capnerhurst, to opine that “[b]ased on ... the injuries sustained to his left arm and the way he fell back ... [Bryan could not] have held onto anything that was in his hand” because (1) the science was forensic pathology (2) Dr. Marcus was properly qualified, without objection, as an expert in forensic pathology; (3) his duties as a forensic pathologist include determining the cause of death, the manner of death and the circumstances surrounding it; (4) his training as a forensic pathologist included training as to what could or could not have occurred at a suspected crime scene; (5) his training as a medical doctor included specific training as to how certain wounds could affect a person's ability to move and to handle things; (6) the probative value of his opinion was not substantially outweighed by its prejudicial value; and (7) he could not have been prejudiced by its introduction because it was merely cumulative to Dr. Marcus’ earlier opinion that was admitted without objection, R. 1535, II. 13-25.

Nor is there merit to Parker’s claim that the trial judge erroneously allowed Dr. Bradley Marcus, the forensic pathologist who performed the autopsy, to opine that “[b]ased on ... the injuries sustained to his left arm and the way he fell back ... [Bryan Capnerhurst could not] have held onto anything that was in his hand.”²² At the worst, he could not have been prejudiced by its introduction because it was merely cumulative to Dr. Marcus’ earlier opinion that was admitted without objection. *See R. 1534, I. 12 – p. 1535, I. 17.*

Dr. Marcus, who performed both autopsies in this case, testified that he is a forensic pathologist and the Chief Medical Examiner in Richland County. He and a colleague perform all

²¹ The charge in question is taken almost *verbatim* from that endorsed by the Federal Judicial Center, *see* Federal Judicial Center, Pattern Criminal Jury Instructions 17-18 (1987) (Instruction 21); and it has been approved by the Court’s decision in *State v. Darby*, 324 S.C. 114, 115-16, 477 S.E.2d 710, 710-11 (1996), and in Justice Ginsburg’s concurring opinion in *Victor v. Nebraska*, 511 U.S. 1, 26-27 (1994) (Ginsburg, J., concurring in part and in judgment). And, because jury instructions are viewed as a whole, Petitioner’s procedurally barred contention that the location of this charge in the instruction prevents any error from being harmless, is frivolous.

²² This alleged error does not relate to or impact Parker’s conviction for murdering Tammy Parker, only his conviction for murdering Bryan Capnerhurst.

of the forensic autopsies in Richland County, and he performs medical autopsies of individuals who die in hospitals when asked to do so. He earned his medical degree in 2001. Following his residency, he spent six years at the Medical University of South Carolina specializing in “all aspects of anatomic pathology, clinical pathology, forensic pathology, and ... cytopathology [or] the study of cells.” **R. 1455-62**. He explained that “[f]orensic pathology is the study of pathology in relation to the autopsy. So I do an autopsy to determine the cause of death,” and a pathologist “determine[s] the manner of death,” which is either natural; suicide; accidental; homicide; or undetermined. Dr. Marcus is board certified in forensic pathology, anatomic pathology, clinical pathology, and cytopathology, and he had previously been qualified to testify as an expert in forensic pathology over twenty times. The State then moved to have him qualified as an expert in forensic pathology. **R. 1459-63**.²³ On Parker’s voir dire of him, Dr. Marcus testified that he found no other cause of death in this case other than gunshots, and that he expected that this would be his testimony. Parker did not object to his qualification and the trial judge qualified him as an expert in forensic pathology. **R. 1463-64**.

After Dr. Marcus had explained his autopsy findings and conclusions for Tammy (**R. p. 1464, l. 22 – p. 1473, l. 1; p. 1482, l. 1 – p. 1509, l. 11**), he explained his autopsy findings and conclusions for Bryan. Parker did not challenge admission of most of Dr. Marcus’ testimony about the autopsy of Bryan Capnerhurst. *See* **R. 1509-14; 1517-51**. His objection was to the State’s query, “Based on the multiple gunshots and the areas that were shot and everything, in your expert opinion, would Mr. Capnerhurst have been able to maintain a grip on anything[?]” Parker thereafter argued *in camera* that Dr. Marcus was not qualified to give an opinion in

²³ There are ten possible board certifications in pathology, but practitioners are limited to four certifications. Parker’s voir dire of Dr. Marcus established that he began medical school at the American University of the Caribbean. After two years there, he attended school in Ireland for a year and his fourth year was in a school in Chicago. Because of his high scores on his board exams, he “was able to get my choice of MUSC.”

response to this question because “[h]e is not an orthopedic doctor ... [or] an orthopedic surgeon.” Parker also claimed that Dr. Marcus did not base this opinion on “any study or science or anything that has been peer reviewed ... that would support ... what they are trying to get him to say;” that the opinion would be contrary to the eyewitness testimony, and that his opinion went to “the ultimate issue in the case.” Although the State had an orthopedic doctor who might be qualified to testify to this issue, he claimed Dr. Marcus was not qualified. **R. 1552-53.**

The State argued that Dr. Marcus was qualified to give this opinion because as a forensic pathologist, he was “trained ... to determine the cause and manner of death and what did happen and what didn't happen at crime scenes.”²⁴ Also, he had reviewed the crime scene photos and “consulted with doctors. He did everything.” The State further noted that any doctor may express an opinion “if it is within [his] training” and asserted that this was within Dr. Marcus’ training. *See* Rule 702, SCRE. **R. 1553.**²⁵ The trial judge then heard the State’s proffer that, as a forensic pathologist, Dr. Marcus was trained to determine the cause of death and the manner of death; that he also had training as to “what could or couldn't have happened in a [purported] crime scene;” that he had training, as a medical doctor, on “how certain wounds could affect a person's ability to move, to handle things, or to do anything of that sort;” and that Dr. Marcus had an opinion as to whether Bryan would he have been able to keep a grip on any object in his hand. Based upon Dr. Marcus’ findings as to the cause and manner of Bryan’s death and the injuries Bryan suffered, Dr. Marcus’ opinion was that “Mr. Capnerhurst, due to the injuries sustained to his left arm ... was unable to have carried a weapon based on the injuries to his left arm, based on the

²⁴ The State also noted that he was the chief medical examiner.

²⁵ The State explained that its theory was, after Parker shot Bryan “in the head with the final head shot, [Parker] then went and got the gun that he had used to kill his wife and placed it in [Bryan’s] hand.” However, Parker did not know that Bryan’s “arm was broken, and [that] he could not hold that gun in the manner in which it was placed so the police would find it to show guilt.” **R. 1553-54.**

circumstances of falling backward and downward.” **R. 1554-56.**

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